



Governing Board Agenda Item

Meeting Date: September 11, 2025

From: Denise Linsalata, Assistant Superintendent

Subject: Policy Revision

Priority: To ensure that students are safe, known, and valued

Consent ☐ Action ☒ Discussion ☐

Background:

Policy JR, Student Records and Regulation JR-R, are being revised to reflect changes in House Bill 2514 which amends A.R.S. §15-102 and A.R.S. §15-142 relating to parental involvement in schools and student directory information. The policy and regulation have been updated to ensure compliance with the new requirements.

The two major changes include the ability of parents to opt-out of disclosures of Directory Information and opt-in to disclosures of student address, telephone number and/or email address. In addition, it defines what directory information is and how transcripts may be released.

Subheadings were added to the regulation to support clarity and organization.

Legal counsel has approved these changes.

Recommended Motion:

I move that the Governing Board approve revisions to Policy JR, Student Records as presented.

Approved for transmittal to the Governing Board:


Dr. Daniel Streeter, Superintendent

Questions should be directed to: Denise Linsalata, Assistant Superintendent
Phone: (520) 682-4757

STUDENT RECORDS

Required student records (regular and special education) will be prepared in a manner consistent with state and federal laws, the requirements of the Arizona Uniform System of Financial Records (USFR) and those of the Arizona Department of Libraries, Archives and Public Records. Retention periods and disposition of records shall be as specified in the USFR, the Arizona Department of Library Archives and Public Records and relevant federal statutes and regulations.

The District will comply with the provisions of the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001 (USA PATRIOT ACT), and the Every Student Succeeds Act of 2015 (ESSA) in the establishment, maintenance, correction, and disposition of student records.

The Board directs the Superintendent to establish procedures for such compliance, including informing parents, students, and the public of the contents. The Superintendent will implement procedures as required by law and will establish procedures for dealing with violations.

If a parent or eligible student believes that the District is violating the FERPA, that person has a right to file a complaint with the U.S. Department of Education. The address is:

The Family Policy Compliance Office
U.S. Department of Education
400 Maryland Avenue, SW
Washington, DC 20202-4605
Telephone number: (202) 260-3887

In adopting this policy it is the intent of the Board that the policy and related procedures be implemented immediately. Copies of the policy and procedures will be available for parent and eligible student review in the District office.

Confidentiality

The right to inspect and review education records and the release of or access to such records, other information, or instructional materials will be consistent with federal law in the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act, Title 20, United States Code, sections 1232g and 1232h, the USA PATRIOT ACT, ESSA and with federal regulations issued pursuant to such act.

Annual Notification

Within the first three (3) weeks of each school year, the District will publish in a District communication a notice to parents and eligible students of their rights under the FERPA and this procedure. This notice will also be provided to each parent of new students enrolling after school begins [34 C.F.R. 99.7]. The District will arrange to provide translation of the notice to non-English-speaking parents in their native language or mode of communication [34 C.F.R. 300.9]. The notice shall inform the parents of:

A. The right of the parent or an eligible student to inspect and review the student's education records.

B. The intent of the District to limit the disclosure of personally identifiable information contained in a student's education records, including disciplinary records, except by the prior written consent of the parent or eligible student or under certain limited circumstances as permitted by the FERPA, the USA PATRIOT Act or the ESSA.

C. The right of the parent or eligible student to seek to correct parts of the school education records that the student or the parent believes to be inaccurate, misleading, or in violation of student rights. This right includes the right to a hearing to present evidence that the record should be changed if the District decides not to alter it according to the parent's or eligible student's request.

D. The right of the parent or eligible student to file a complaint with the U.S. Department of Education if they believe the District has violated the FERPA.

Parents and eligible students have the following rights under the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) and this procedure [34 C.F.R. 99.7 and 300.613]. The notice shall also include:

A. The procedure for exercising the right to inspect and review education records.

B. The procedure for requesting amendments of education records that the parent or eligible student believe to be inaccurate, misleading or otherwise a violation of the student's privacy rights.

C. The conditions when prior consent is not required, the criteria for determining who constitutes a school official and what constitutes a legitimate educational interest.

Directory Information:

A. The District is permitted to release Directory Information, as defined in JR-R, without consent, if the District, first notifies the parent or eligible student of all of the following:

1. The types of information that the school has designated as directory information.

2. The right of the parent or eligible student to refuse the school's designation of any or all of the types of information about the student as directory information.

3. The period of time within which a parent or eligible student must notify the school in writing that the parent or eligible student does not want any or all of the types of information about the student designated as directory information.

B. Notwithstanding section (A) and except as required by state or federal law, a school may not disclose the address, telephone number or e-mail address of a student unless either:

1. The parent or eligible student has affirmatively consented in writing to the disclosure; or

2. The parent or eligible student has not opted out of the disclosure pursuant to subsection A above and the disclosure is either:

- a. To one (1) or more students who are enrolled in the school and for educational purposes; or
- b. To school employees and for school business purposes.

~~If the School District permits allows the release of directory information relating to pupils, the information shall be released on or before October 31 of each year.~~ The Superintendent shall develop procedures to communicate to students and their parents ~~in a timely manner~~ information relating to access to the Arizona Department of Education form which is designed to allow ~~pupils~~ parents and eligible students to request that directory information not be released pursuant to the Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA) as reauthorized by the Every Student Succeeds Act of 2015 (ESSA).

Adopted: <-- z2AdoptionDate -->

LEGAL REF.:

A.R.S.

[15-141](#)

[15-142](#)

[15-828](#)

[15-829](#)

[25-403.06](#)

[44-1373](#)

10 U.S.C. 503

20 U.S.C. 1232

20 U.S.C. 1400 *et seq.*, Individuals with Disabilities Education Act

20 U.S.C. 6301 *et seq.*, Every Student Succeeds Act of 2015

20 U.S.C. 7908

34 C.F.R. 300

CROSS REF.:

[IHB](#) - Special Instructional Programs

[JF](#) - Student Admissions

[JFAB](#) - Admission of Nonresident Students

[JLH](#) - Missing Students

[JRCA](#) - Request for Transfer of Records

JR-R ☹

REGULATION

STUDENT RECORDS

This ~~procedure~~ regulation is designed to meet the provisions of the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) and the Individuals with Disabilities in Education Act (IDEA). All personnel in the District are expected to fulfill the requirements of policy and the following procedures in order to protect the confidentiality of personally identifiable information at collection, storage, disclosure, and destruction stages [34 C.F.R. 300.612].

The Superintendent has the responsibility for ensuring the confidentiality of any personally identifiable information [34 C.F.R. 300.612].

All rights and protections given parents under the FERPA and this ~~procedure~~ regulation transfer to the student upon reaching age eighteen (18) except where the student continues as a dependent under specified circumstances, or enrolling in a postsecondary school. The student then becomes an "eligible student" [34 C.F.R. 99.5 and 300.625].

Definitions

For the purpose of ~~the procedure~~ this regulation, the District has used the following definitions of terms:

A. *Student* - Any person who attends or has attended a program of instruction sponsored by the District and for whom the District maintains education records.

B. *Eligible student* - A student who ~~has reached age~~ is at least eighteen (18) years of age or is ~~attending a postsecondary school~~ emancipated.

C. *Parent* - Either the natural parent of a student, unless the parent's rights under the FERPA have been removed by a court order, statute, or other legal document, or a guardian, or an individual acting as a parent or guardian in the absence of the student's parent or guardian. The District may presume that the parent has the authority to inspect and review education records relating to his or her child unless the District has been advised that the parent does not have authority under applicable law.

D. *Education records* - Any information directly related to a student recorded in any way including, but not limited to, handwriting, print, computer media, video or audio tape, film, microfilm or microfiche, that is maintained by the District, an employee of the District, or any agent of the District except:

1. Personal records kept by an employee of the District that meets the following tests:
 - a. It is used only as a personal memory aid.
 - b. It is kept in the personal possession of the individual who made it.
 - c. It is not accessible and has never been revealed to any other person except the employee's temporary substitute.
 2. Medical treatment records maintained for "eligible students."
 3. Records collected and maintained by a law enforcement unit of the school.
 4. Records containing only information about a person after that individual is no longer a student in the District.
 5. An employment record that is used only in relation to a student's employment by the District. (*Employment for this purpose does not include activities for which a student receives a grade or credit in a course.*)
 6. Related alumni records after the student no longer attends classes provided by the District, and the records do not relate to the person as a student.
- E. *Personally identifiable information* - Any data or information that makes the subject of a record known. This includes the student's name, the name(s) of the student's parent(s) or other family member(s), the student's address, the student's Social Security number, a student number, a list of personal characteristics, or other information that would make the student's identity easily traceable.
- F. *Signed and dated written consent* - May include a record and signature in electronic form that:
1. Identifies and authenticates a particular person as the source of the electronic consent.
 2. Indicates such person's approval of the information contained in the electronic consent.

Locations of Education Records

A list of types and locations of education records collected, maintained, or used will be provided to the parents on request [34 C.F.R. 300.616]. See Exhibit JR-EA.

Procedure to Inspect Education Records

Parents of a student, the designated representative of the parents, and an eligible student may inspect and review the student's education records that are collected, maintained, or used by the District [34 C.F.R. 300.501]. In some circumstances it may be mutually more convenient for the record custodian to provide copies of records. Charges for the copies of records will be costs of copying unless the fee would effectively prevent the parent from exercising rights to inspect and review those records [34 C.F.R. 300.613 and 300.617].

Since a student's records may be maintained in several locations, the school principal will offer to collect copies of records or the records themselves from locations other than a student's school so they may be inspected at one (1) site. However, if parents and eligible students wish to inspect records where they are maintained, the school's principal will make every effort to accommodate their wishes.

Parents, the designated representative of the parents, or the eligible student should submit to the student's school principal a signed and dated written request that identifies as precisely as possible the record or records wanted for inspection. The District will respond to any request without unnecessary delay before any meeting regarding any individual education program or hearing relating to the identification, evaluation, placement of a student, or the provision of a free appropriate public education, and in no case more than forty-five (45) days after the request has been made [34 C.F.R. 300.613 and 99.10]. See Exhibit JR-ED.

The principal, or other education records custodian, will contact the parent of the student or the eligible student to discuss how access will be best arranged (e.g., copies, at the exact location, or records brought to a single site).

Parents have the right, upon reasonable request, for explanations and interpretations of the information contained in the records and a right to request copies of the records containing the information, if not in violation of stated policy of FERPA. Parents have the right to have a representative of the parent to inspect and review the records [34 C.F.R. 300.613 and 99.10].

The principal, or other education records custodian, will make the needed arrangements as promptly as possible and notify the parent or eligible student of the time and place where the records may be inspected. This procedure must be completed in forty-five (45) days or less after receipt of the request for access [34 C.F.R. 300.613].

If for any valid reason, such as working hours, distance between record location sites, or health, the parent or eligible student cannot personally inspect and review a student's education records, the District will arrange for the parent or eligible student to obtain copies of the record. See below for information regarding fees for copies of records [34 C.F.R. 300.613 and 99.10].

When a record contains information about students other than a parent's child or the eligible student, the parent or eligible student may not inspect and review the records of the other students [34 C.F.R. 300.615, 99.5 and 99.12].

Fees for Copies of Records

All records subject to disclosure under this procedure shall be available for inspection free of charge. If copies are desired, they shall be furnished by the District to the parent or eligible student on request and free of charge. Additional copies may be sent to other schools or agencies without charge. However, the District reserves the right to charge up to thirty-five cents (35¢) per page for multiple or excessive requests. Copies of available records shall be produced as promptly as possible upon receipt of the request. No fee will be charged for search and retrieval of records [34 C.F.R. 300.617 and 99.11].

The District will provide copies of records:

- A. When the refusal to provide copies effectively denies access to the records by the parent or eligible student [34 C.F.R. 300.617].
- B. At the request of the parent or eligible student, when the District has provided the records to third parties by the prior consent of the parent or eligible student.
- C. At the request of the parent or eligible student when the District has forwarded the records to another school where the student seeks or intends to enroll.

Directory Information

The District designates the following personally identifiable information contained in a student's education records as "directory information" and may disclose that information without prior written consent [20 U.S.C. 1232g(a)(5)(A)]:

- A. The student's name.
- B. The student's address.
- C. The student's telephone listing.
- D. The student's date and place of birth.
- E. The student's electronic mail address.
- F. The student's photograph.
- G. The student's grade level.

- H. The student's major field of study.
- I. The student's dates of attendance.
- J. The student's enrollment status (e.g., part time or full time).
- K. The student's participation in officially recognized activities and sports.
- L. The student's weight and height if a member of an athletic team.
- M. The student's honors and awards received.
- N. The student's most recently attended educational agency or institution.

Within the first three (3) weeks of each school year the District will publish in a District communication or send home with each student the above list, or a revised list, of the items of directory information designated as directory information. For a student who enrolls after the notice is published, the list will be given to the parent or eligible student at the time and place of enrollment. See Exhibit JR-EB.

~~After the parents or eligible student have been notified, they will have two (2) weeks to advise the District in writing (a letter to the Superintendent's office) of any or all of the items they refuse to permit the District to designate as directory information about that student.~~

According to state and federal law if the Governing Board permits the release of directory information relating to students to persons or organizations who inform students of educational or occupational opportunities, then the Governing Board shall provide access to directory information on the same basis to military official recruiting representatives for the purpose of informing students of educational and occupational opportunities available to them. ~~Directory information shall be released on or before October 31 of each year unless the parent or eligible student requests in writing to the District (a letter to the Superintendent's office within two [2] weeks after notification) not to release directory information to any person or organization without prior signed and dated written consent. The District shall distribute a form, separate from any other form, designed and provided to districts by the Arizona Department of Education allowing pupils to request that directory information not be released. If the District distributes materials to pupils through electronic communication or on an internet website, the form may be distributed in the same manner. A person who is wrongfully denied access to directory information or access to school buildings, school grounds or other property may notify the Department of Education, which shall report the alleged violation to the United States Department of Education. If the parent or eligible student refuses to allow the release of directory information without prior signed and dated written consent, then the District will not provide military recruiters, upon request, directory information containing the student's name, addresses and telephone listings. If the parent or eligible student refuses to allow the release of directory information without prior signed and dated written consent, then the District will not~~

provide military recruiters , ~~upon request~~, directory information containing the student's name, addresses and telephone listings.

Ability to Opt-Out of Disclosures of Directory Information

After the parents or eligible student have been notified of the list of directory information, they will have two (2) weeks to advise the District in writing of any or all of the items they do not permit the District to designate as directory information about that student. This may be done on a form designed by the Arizona Department of Education and distributed by the District for this purpose. The parent or eligible student may identify specific items of directory information that may not be released without consent or may indicate that no directory information about the student may be released without consent.

At the end of the two (2)-week period, if the parent or eligible student has not returned the form indicating refusal to allow the release of directory information, the District will assume it has their permission to release ~~the above-mentioned information~~. ~~any directory information in accordance with this regulation.~~

This designation will remain in effect until it is modified by ~~the prior~~ a signed and dated written direction of the parent or eligible student. The student's records will be appropriately marked by the records custodian to ensure compliance with the parents' or eligible student's request.

Ability to Opt-In to Disclosures of Student Address, Telephone number, and/or email address

The District may provide a form by which a parent or eligible student may consent to allow the disclosure of a student's address, telephone number, and/or email address. If the parent or eligible student does not give written consent to such disclosure, this information will be provided only if the parent or eligible student has not opted out of the disclosure of directory information, and the disclosure is either (a) to a student or students who are enrolled in the school and for educational purposes, or (b) to school employees and for school business purposes.

Release of Transcripts

Requests for release of a student's transcript shall be made on a transcript release form provided by the District that allows the student to designate in separate check boxes whether the transcript is to be released to postsecondary institutions, the militia of this state or the armed services of the United States, or to any combination of these entities

Use of Student Education Records

To carry out their responsibilities, school officials will have access to student education records for legitimate educational purposes. The District will use the following criteria to determine who are school officials [34 C.F.R. 99.31]:

- A. A person duly elected to the Board (under limited circumstances).
- B. A person certificated by the state and appointed by the Board to an administrative or supervisory position.
- C. A person certificated by the state and under contract to the Board as an instructor.
- D. A person employed by the Board as a temporary substitute for administrative, supervisory, or instructional personnel for the period of such performance as a substitute.
- E. A person employed by or under contract to the Board to perform a special task, such as a secretary, a clerk, the Board attorney, or auditor, for the period of such performance as an employee or contractor.

District officials who meet the criteria listed above will have access to a student's records if they have a legitimate educational interest in doing so [34 C.F.R. 99.32]. A "legitimate educational interest" is the person's need to know in order to:

- A. Perform an administrative task required in the school employee's position description approved by the Board.
- B. Perform a supervisory or instructional task directly related to the student's education.
- C. Perform a service or benefit for the student or the student's family, such as health care, counseling, student job placement, or student financial aid.

Records of students placed in special educational programs will be under the direct supervision of the program administration. All persons collecting or using personally identifiable information in records of students determined to be a student with a disability will receive training or instruction regarding Arizona's policies and procedures for the protection of these records at the collection, storage, disclosure, and destruction stages in accordance with FERPA and IDEA [34 C.F.R. 300.623].

The District will maintain for public inspection a current listing of the names and positions of employees who have access to personally identifiable information maintained on students placed in special education [34 C.F.R. 300.623]. When the information maintained in these records is

no longer needed to provide educational services to the student, the District will notify the parents of their right to have the personally identifiable information destroyed [34 C.F.R. 300.624]. However, a permanent record of a student's name, address, phone number, grades, attendance record, classes attended, grade level completed, and year completed will be maintained [34 C.F.R. 300.624]. Destruction of records will be accomplished in accordance with the requirements of Arizona law and regulations of the Department of Library, Archives, and Public Records [34 C.F.R. 300.623].

The District will release information from or permit access to a student's education records only with a parent's or eligible student's prior signed and dated written consent, except that the Superintendent or a person designated in writing by the Superintendent may permit disclosure [34 C.F.R. 99.30, 99.31, 99.34, and 99.37]:

A. When a student seeks or intends to enroll in another school district or a postsecondary school the District will not further notify parents or eligible students prior to such a transfer of records. Parents and student have a right to obtain copies of records transferred under this provision. See Exhibit JR-EC.

B. When certain federal and state officials need information in order to audit or enforce legal conditions related to federally supported education programs in the District.

C. To parties who provide or may provide financial aid to a student to:

1. Establish the student's eligibility for the aid.
2. Determine the amount of financial aid.
3. Establish the conditions for the receipt of the financial aid.
4. Enforce the agreement between the provider and the receiver of financial aid.

D. If a state law adopted before November 19, 1974, required certain specific items of information to be disclosed in personally identifiable form from student records to state or local officials.

E. If a state law adopted before November 19, 1974, required certain specific items of information to be disclosed in personally identifiable form from student records to state or local officials of the juvenile justice system and the officials certify in writing that the information will not be disclosed to any other party, except as provided under state law, without prior signed and dated written consent of the parent or the eligible student.

F. When the District has entered into a written agreement or contract for an organization to conduct studies on the District's behalf to develop tests, administer student aid, or improve instruction.

G. To accrediting organizations to carry out their accrediting functions.

H. To parents of an eligible student if the parents claim the student as a dependent as defined by the Internal Revenue Code of 1954.

I. To comply with a judicial order or lawfully issued subpoena. The District will make a reasonable effort to notify the parent or the eligible student before making a disclosure under this provision unless directed otherwise by a court of competent jurisdiction.

J. To comply with an *ex parte* order from a court of competent jurisdiction requiring the District to permit the U.S. Attorney General or U.S. Attorney General's designee to collect education records in the possession of the District that are relevant to an authorized investigation or prosecution of an offense listed in 18 U.S.C. 2332b(g)(5)(B) for an act of domestic or international terrorism as defined in 18 U.S.C. 2331. An *ex parte* order is an order issued by a court of competent jurisdiction without notice to the adverse party. A disclosure pursuant to an *ex parte* order will not be recorded as a disclosure of information from a student's education records by the District.

K. If the District initiates legal action against a parent or student, the District may disclose to the court, without a court order or subpoena, the education records of the student that are relevant for the District to proceed with the legal action.

L. If a parent or eligible student initiates legal action against the District, the District may, without a court order or subpoena, disclose the student's education records that are relevant for the District to defend itself.

M. To comply with the request of authorized law enforcement officials conducting an investigation of acts of terrorism.

N. The disclosure is in connection with a health or safety emergency. Time is an important and limiting factor in determining whether the disclosure is in connection with a health or safety emergency. The District will permit any school official to make the needed disclosure from student education records in a health or safety emergency if:

1. The official deems the disclosure is warranted by the seriousness of the threat to the health or safety of the student or other persons.

2. The information is necessary and needed to address the emergency.

3. The persons to whom the information is to be disclosed are qualified and in a position to deal with the emergency.

O. The District may release student attendance, disciplinary, and other education records to a law enforcement agency and county attorney pursuant to an intergovernmental agreement between the District, the law enforcement agency, the county attorney, and other state, local, or tribal government agencies to create a local or tribal juvenile justice network for the purpose of:

1. providing appropriate programs and services to intervene with juveniles currently involved in the juvenile justice system.
2. providing appropriate programs and services designed to deter at-risk juveniles from dropping out of school or other delinquent behavior.
3. increasing the safety and security of the community and its children by reducing juvenile crime.

P. Education records provided pursuant to an intergovernmental agreement entered into in accord with the above provisions shall be used solely for the purposes of the agreement and shall not be disclosed to any other party, except as provided by law.

A District school official may release information from a student's education records, other than directory information, to a third party if the parent or the eligible student gives prior signed and dated written consent for the disclosure and the third party agrees that the information will not be disclosed to any other party without the prior consent of the parent or eligible student. The signed and dated written consent must include at least:

- A. A specification of the records to be released.
- B. The reasons for the disclosure.
- C. The person or the organization or the class of persons or organizations to whom the disclosure is to be made.
- D. The signature of the parent or eligible student.
- E. The date of the consent and, if appropriate, a date when the consent is to be terminated.

The parent or the eligible student may obtain a copy of any records disclosed under this provision, unless otherwise provided.

**Records of Requests for Access
and Disclosures Made from
Education Records**

The District will maintain an accurate record of all requests for it to disclose information from or to permit access to a student's education records, and of information it discloses and access it permits, with some exceptions as listed below. This record will be kept with, but will not be a part of, each student's cumulative school records. It will be available only to the record custodian, the eligible student, the parent of the student, or to federal, state, or local officials for the purpose of auditing or enforcing federally supported educational programs [34 C.F.R. 99.32]. See Exhibit JR-EE.

The record will include at least:

- A. The name of the person, organization or agency that made the request.
- B. The interest the person, organization or agency had in the information.
- C. The date the person, organization or agency made the request.
- D. Whether the request was granted and, if it was, the date access was permitted or the disclosure was made.

The District will maintain this record as long as it maintains the student's education records. The record will not include requests for access or access granted to:

- A. the parent or eligible student,
- B. authorized law enforcement officials conducting an investigation of acts of terrorism,
- C. school officials who have a legitimate educational interest in the student,
- D. requests for or disclosures of information contained in the student's education records if the request is accompanied by or authorized by the prior signed and dated written consent of the parent or eligible student, or
- E. for requests for or disclosures of directory information designated for that student.

**Procedures to Seek to Correct
Education Records
[34 C.F.R. 99.20 and 99.21]**

Parents of students and eligible students have a right to seek to change any part of the student's record they believe is inaccurate, misleading, or in violation of student rights [34 C.F.R. 300.618 and 99.20]. (*Note: Under the FERPA, the District may decline to consider a request to change the grade a teacher assigns for a course.*)

For the purpose of outlining the procedure to seek to correct education records, the term *incorrect* will be used to describe a record that is inaccurate, misleading, or in violation of student rights. The term *correct* will be used to describe a record that is accurate, not misleading, and not in violation of student rights. Also, in this section, the term *requester* will be used to describe the parent of a student or the eligible student who is asking the District to correct a record.

To establish an orderly process to review and correct education records for a requester, the District may make a decision to comply with the request for change at several levels in the procedure [34 C.F.R. 300.618 and 99.20].

First-level decision. A parent of a student or an eligible student who finds an item in the student's education records that appears to be inaccurate, misleading, or in violation of student rights should immediately ask the record custodian to correct it. If the record is incorrect because of an obvious error and it is a simple matter to make the record change at this level, the record custodian will make the correction. However, if the record is changed at this level, the method and result must satisfy the requester.

If the custodian cannot change the record to the requester's satisfaction or the record does not appear to be obviously incorrect, the custodian will:

- A. Provide the requester a copy of the questioned record at no cost.
- B. Ask the requester to initiate a written request for the change.
- C. Follow the procedure for a second-level decision.

Second-level decision. The written request to correct a student's education records through the procedure at this level should specify the correction the requester wishes the District to make. It should at least identify the item thought to be incorrect and state whether the requester believes the item:

- A. Is inaccurate and why,
- B. Is misleading and why, or
- C. Violates student rights and why.

The request will be dated and signed by the requester.

Within two (2) weeks after receiving a written request, the record custodian will study the request, discuss it with other school officials (the person who made the record or those who may have a professional concern about the District's response to the request), make a decision to

comply or decline to comply with the request, and complete the appropriate steps to notify the requester or move the request to the next level for a decision.

If, as a result of this review and discussion, a decision is reached that the record should be corrected, the record custodian will affect the change and notify the requester, in writing, of that action. Each such notice will include an invitation for the requester to inspect and review the student's education records to make certain the record is in order and the correction is satisfactory.

If a decision is reached that the record is correct, the custodian will make a written summary of any discussions with other officials and of the findings in the matter. This summary and a copy of the written request will be transmitted to the Superintendent.

Third-level decision. The Superintendent will review the material provided by the record custodian and, if necessary, discuss the matter with other officials such as the school attorney or the Board (in executive session unless otherwise requested by parent[s]). The Superintendent will then make a decision concerning the request and complete the steps at this decision level. Ordinarily, this level of the procedure should be completed within two (2) weeks. If it will take longer, the Superintendent will notify the requester in writing of the reasons for the delay and a date when the decision will be made.

If the Superintendent decides the record is incorrect and should be changed, the record custodian will be advised to make the changes. The record custodian will advise the requester of the change.

If the Superintendent decides the record is correct, a letter to the requester will be prepared that will include [34 C.F.R. 300.619 and 99.20]:

- A. The District's decision that the record is correct and the basis for the decision.
- B. A notice to the requester explaining the requester's right to ask for a hearing to present evidence that the record is incorrect and that the District will grant such a hearing.
- C. Instructions for the requester to contact the Superintendent to discuss acceptable hearing officers, convenient times, and a satisfactory site for the hearing. (The District will not be bound by the requester's positions on these items but will, as far as possible, arrange the hearing as the requester wishes.)
- D. Advice that the requester may be represented or assisted in the hearing by other parties, including an attorney, at the requester's expense.

Fourth-level decision. After the requester has submitted (orally or in writing) any wishes concerning the hearing officer and the time and place for the hearing, the Superintendent will,

within one (1) week, notify the requester when and where the District will hold the hearing and whom it has designated as the hearing officer [34 C.F.R. 300.621, 99.21, 99.22, and 99.34].

At the hearing, the hearing officer will provide the requester a full and reasonable opportunity to present material evidence and testimony to demonstrate that the questioned part of the student's education records is incorrect as shown in the requester's written request for a change in the record (second level).

Within one (1) week after the hearing, the hearing officer will submit to the Superintendent a written summary of the evidence submitted at the hearing. Along with the summary, the hearing officer will submit recommendations, based solely on the evidence presented at the hearing, that the record should be changed or should remain unchanged.

The Superintendent will prepare the District's decision within two (2) weeks after the hearing. That decision will be based on the summary of the evidence presented at the hearing and on the hearing officer's recommendation. However, the District's decision will be based solely on the evidence presented at the hearing. Therefore, the Superintendent may overrule the hearing officer if the hearing officer's recommendation is deemed inconsistent with the evidence presented. As a result of the District's decision, the Superintendent will take one (1) of the following actions:

- A. If the decision is that the District will change the record, the Superintendent will instruct the record custodian to correct the record. The record custodian will correct the record and notify the requester ~~as~~ at the second-level decision [34 C.F.R. 300.620 and 99.21].
- B. If the decision is that the District will not change the record, the Superintendent will prepare a written notice to the requester that will include [34 C.F.R. 300.620 and 99.21]:
 - 1. The District's decision that the record is correct and will not be changed.
 - 2. A copy of a summary of the evidence presented at the hearing and a written statement of the reasons for the District's decision.
 - 3. Advice to the requester that an explanatory statement may be placed in the student's education records stating the reasons for disagreement with the District's decision and/or the reasons for believing the record to be incorrect.

Final administrative step in the procedure. When the District receives an explanatory statement from a requester after a hearing, it will maintain that statement as part of the student's education records as long as it maintains the questioned part of the record. The statement will be attached to the questioned part of the record and whenever the questioned part of the record is disclosed the explanatory statement will also be disclosed [34 C.F.R. 300.620 and 99.21].

**Annual Notification to Parents Regarding
Confidentiality of Student Education
Records [34 C.F.R. 300.612]**

Dear Parent:

The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) affords parents and students over 18 years of age ("eligible students") certain rights with respect to the student's education records. The Governing Board has established written policies regarding the collection, storage, retrieval, release, use, and transfer of student educational information collected and maintained pertinent to the education of all students to ensure the confidentiality of the information and to guarantee parents' and students' rights to privacy. These policies and procedures are in compliance with:

The Family Education Rights and Privacy Act; Title 20, United States Code, Sections 1232g and 1232h; and the Federal Regulations (34 C.F.R., Part 99) issued pursuant to such act;

Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001 (USA PATRIOT ACT);

Every Student Succeeds Act of 2015 (ESSA);

The Individuals with Disabilities in Education Act; 20 U.S.C. Chapter 33; and the Federal Regulations (34 C.F.R. Part 300); and

Arizona Revised Statutes, Title 15, sections 141 and 142.

Student education records are collected and maintained to help in the instruction, guidance, and educational progress of the student, to provide information to parents and staff members, to provide a basis for the evaluation and improvement of school programs, and for legitimate educational research. The students' records maintained by the District may include - but are not necessarily limited to, identifying data, report cards and transcripts of academic work completed, standardized achievement test scores, attendance data, reports of psychological testing, health data, teacher or counselor observations, and verified reports of serious or recurrent behavior patterns.

These records are maintained in the office of the District under the supervision of the school administrator and are available only to the teachers and staff members working with the student. Upon request, the District discloses education records, including disciplinary records, without consent to officials of another school district in which a student seeks or intends to enroll. Otherwise, records are not released to most agencies, persons or organizations without prior signed and dated written consent of the parent [34 C.F.R. 99.7]. The signed and dated written consent may be in electronic form under certain conditions [34 C.F.R. 99.30].

You shall be informed when personally identifiable information collected, maintained, or used is no longer needed to provide educational services to your child. The information must be maintained for two (2) years after the date your child was last enrolled in this school district.

You have the right to inspect and review any and all records related to your child within forty-five (45) days of the day of receiving a request for access, including a listing of persons or organizations who have reviewed or have received copies of the information [34 C.F.R. 99.7]. Parents who wish to review their children's records should contact the principal for an appointment or submit to the principal a written request that identifies the record(s) you wish to inspect. District personnel will make arrangements for access and notify you of the time and place where the records may be inspected. District personnel will be available to explain the contents of the records to you. Copies of student education records will be made available to parents when it is not practicable for you to inspect and review the records at the school. Charges for the copies of records will be costs of copying unless the fee prevents the parent from exercising rights to inspect and review those records.

You have the right to request that an amendment be made to the student's education records and to add comments of your own if you believe information in the record file is inaccurate or misleading [34 C.F.R. 99.7(a)(1)]. You should write the principal, clearly identify the part of the record you want changed, and specify why it is inaccurate or misleading. If the District decides not to amend the record as requested by you, the District will notify you of the decision and advise you of the right to a hearing regarding the request for amendment. Additional information regarding the hearing procedures will be provided to you when notified of the right to a hearing.

You have the right to consent to disclosures of personally identifiable information contained in the student's education records, except to the extent that FERPA authorizes disclosure without consent. One exception, which permits disclosure without consent, is disclosure to school officials with legitimate educational interests. A school official is a person employed by the District as an administrator, supervisor, instructor, or support staff member (including health or medical staff and law enforcement unit personnel); a person serving on the School Board; a person or company with whom the District has contracted to perform a special task (such as an attorney, auditor, medical consultant, or therapist); or a parent or student serving on an official committee, such as a disciplinary or grievance committee, or assisting another school official in performing his or her tasks. A school official has a legitimate educational interest if the official needs to review an education record in order to fulfill his or her professional responsibility.

Copies of the District student education records confidentiality policies and procedures may be reviewed in the assigned office in each school [34 C.F.R. 99.7]. You have the right to file a complaint with the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act Office in Washington, D.C., concerning alleged failures by the District to comply with the requirements of FERPA [34 C.F.R. 99.7]. The name and address of the Office that administers FERPA are:

**Family Policy Compliance Office
U.S. Department of Education
400 Maryland Avenue, SW
Washington, DC 20202-4605**